ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Colleton County

Perry M. Buckner, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BRONSON SHELLEY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213520

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

MAR 03 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

In instructing the jury on the law of attempted murder did the trial judge err in defining malice as the intentional doing of a wrongful act, without just cause or excuse and with an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law will infer an evil intent when attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August of 2011, the Colleton County Grand Jury indicted Shelley for two counts of attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictments #2011-GS-15-552, 553, 554. On November 13, 2012, Shelley proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Perry M. Buckner. Attorney David Matthews represented Shelley at trial. Attorney Steven Knight prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. The jury returned a verdict of not guilty for attempted murder of Deputy J. Eaches, indictment #2011-GS-15-553. The jury returned guilty verdicts for attempted murder of Deputy J. Burnette, indictment #2011-GS-15-552 and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictment #2011-GS-15-554. Judge Buckner sentenced Shelley to twenty five (25) years for the attempted murder charge and five (5) years concurrent for the weapon charge. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on November 19, 2012. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 12, 2012, at 7:00 PM Deputy Justin Eaches with the Dorchester County Sheriff's Department was conducting traffic enforcement on I-95 when he observed a black vehicle move off to the right and then make an abrupt lane change to the left without using a turn signal. R. p. 69, line 7 – p. 70, lines 1-11. The Deputy testified that he pulled next to the vehicle and observed Maurio Rivers as the driver and Appellant as the passenger. R. p. 70, line 13 – p. 71, lines 1-24. According to the Deputy he attempted to stop the vehicle with blue lights and siren but the vehicle did not stop. R. p. 72, line 22 – p. 73, lines 1-25. The Deputy testified that the vehicle reached a speed of over a hundred miles per hour crossing into Colleton County. R. pp. 73 – 77.

Lieutenant Joseph Burnette with the Dorchester County Sheriff's testified that he took over the chase as the car entered Colleton County and onto Highway 61. R. p. 115, lines 1-21. Lt. Burnette made contact with the vehicle with his car in order to stop it. The vehicle spun around, hit a tree and flipped over. R. p. 115, line 22 – p. 116, lines 1-14. Lt. Burnette testified that during the chase he observed the passenger shoot at him through the sun roof of the car. R. p. 116, line 15 – p. 117, 118, lines 1-25. According to Lt. Burnette both the driver and the passenger fled after the car wrecked. R. p. 119, lines 3-14.

Officer Paul Timothy Knight with the Dorchester County Sheriff's Department testified that he assisted Lt. Burnette in apprehending Maurio Rivers. According to Officer Knight, Rivers was identified by an unknown source as the driver. R. p. 188, lines 11-18. According to Officer Knight, the Appellant was apprehended about an hour later. R. p. 188, line 25 – p. 189, lines 1-21. Stephen Bellew with the Colleton County Fire and Rescue

testified that he treated the second person at the scene who identified himself the unrestrained driver of the vehicle. R. pp. 166-169.

ARGUMENT

In instructing the jury on the law of attempted murder the trial judge erred in defining malice as the intentional doing of a wrongful act, without just cause or excuse and with an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law will infer an evil intent when attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill.

At the close of the State's case, Appellant requested that the judge instruct the jury with the definition of attempted murder found in State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283 (2000). R. p. 207, lines 7-13. Prior to the jury instruction the judge held a charge conference off the record. R. p. 209, line 23 – p.210, lines 1-3. The next day the judge declined to instruct the jury pursuant to Sutton but placed on the record Appellant's objection to the proposed charge. R. p. 209, lines 18 – p. 210 lines 1-25. During the jury instruction on the law of attempted murder the judge defined malice stating, "Malice is hatred, ill-will or hostility towards another person. It is – malice is the intentional doing of a wrongful act, without just cause or excuse, and with an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law will infer an evil intent." R. p. 248, lines 1-5. At the conclusion of the jury instructions Appellant objected to the definition of malice that included the words "intent to inflict an injury." R. pp. 256-258. Counsel for Appellant specifically stated, "And, Your Honor, when mentioning the intent to inflict injury, it sounds like – it sounds like – it waters down the defendant's purpose, the level of intent, Your Honor. I know we discussed this, but I'm just putting my position on the record." R. p. 257, line 23 – p. 258, lines 1-2.

The judge denied Appellant's request to instruct the jury with the definition of attempted murder provided in State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283 (2000). stating:

R. p. 259 lines 4-23. The trial judge erred.

On June 2, 2010, S.C. Code §16-3-29 became effective creating the statutory offense of attempted murder. S.C. Code §16-3-29 provides, “A person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder. A person who violates this section is guilty of a felony, and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned for not more than thirty years. A sentence imposed pursuant to this section may not be suspended nor may probation be granted.” In State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283 (2000) the South Carolina Supreme Court found that, at the time, the offense of attempted murder was not recognized in South Carolina. In Sutton the Court wrote:

In general, “[a]ttempt is a specific intent crime.” 21 Am.Jur.2d Criminal Law § 176 (1998). “The act constituting the attempt must be done with the intent to commit that particular crime.” Id. See also Wharton's Criminal Law Attempt §§ 694-695 (1996) (“To constitute an attempt, there must be an intent to commit a particular crime ... Although a murder may be committed without an intent to kill, an attempt to commit murder requires a specific intent to kill.”) In the context of an “attempt” crime, specific intent means that the defendant consciously intended the completion of acts comprising the choate offense. In other words, the completion of such acts is the defendant's purpose. United States v. Calloway, 116 F.3d 1129 (6th Cir.1997). Attempted murder would require the specific intent to kill and conduct towards that end. ABIK requires an unlawful act of violence to the person of another with malice. Clearly, each offense has an element the other does not. However, simply because convictions for both offenses would not violate double jeopardy, we are not constrained to recognize the offense of attempted murder.

Sutton, 340 S.C. at 397, 532 S.E.2d at 285 (footnote omitted).

Appellant requested that the judge use the language above from Sutton to define attempted murder. Importantly, the judge's instruction did not instruct the jury that “[a]ttempted murder would require the specific intent to kill and conduct towards that

end.” Appellant objected when the judge denied the request to use the Sutton language and further objected to the judge’s definition of malice that included the words “intent to inflict an injury.” While the judge instructed the jury that “[a] person, who with the intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder” R. p. 247, lines 22-25, the intent element was diluted by the judge’s instruction defining malice as the intentional doing of a wrongful act, without just cause or excuse, and with an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law will infer an evil intent.

“To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010). A trial judge's failure to give requested jury instructions is not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining the issues. Id. at 479, 697 S.E.2d at 583–84. “An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion.” Id. at 479, 697 S.E.2d at 584.

First, the judge erred in defining malice as the intentional doing of a wrongful act, without just cause or excuse, and with an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law will infer an evil intent. In footnote five in State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 610, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009) the South Carolina Supreme court wrote, “Under South Carolina law, “[m]alice is a legal term implying wickedness and excluding a just cause or excuse. The term malice indicates a formed purpose and design to do a wrongful act under the circumstances that exclude any legal right to do it.” State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 275 n. 2, 531 S.E.2d 512, 517 n. 2 (2000); see also State v. McDaniel, 68 S.C.

304, 312, 47 S.E. 384, 387 (1904) (same). “It is something which springs from wickedness, from depravity, from a heart devoid of social duty and fatally bent on mischief.” Arnold v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 163, 420 S.E.2d 834, 837 (1992); see also Singletary v. State, 281 S.C. 444, 446, 316 S.E.2d 369, 370 (1984) (same); State v. Kinard, 373 S.C. 500, 504, 646 S.E.2d 168, 170 (Ct.App.2007) (same).” The traditional definitions of malice do not include “an intent to inflict an injury” and this language should not have been included in the definition of malice given to the jury in this case.

Second, Appellant was prejudiced by the erroneous jury instruction. Attempted murder, as defined by statute, requires a specific intent to kill. In defining malice by using the intent to inflict an injury the judge diluted the specific intent to kill required for attempted murder. The single reference to intent to kill in the jury charge was not sufficient in light of the erroneous malice charge. The trial judge should have charged the language from Sutton as requested.

In State v. Buckner, 341 S.C. 241, 247, 534 S.E.2d 15, 18 (Ct.App. 2000) the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote:

Where the charge contains both the correct and incorrect law, an appellate court must assume the jury followed the incorrect charge. State v. Taylor, 323 S.C. 162, 473 S.E.2d 817 (Ct.App.1996) (citing People v. Hess, 214 Mich.App. 33, 543 N.W.2d 332 (1995)). Moreover, in determining whether the error was harmless, we must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict. State v. Andrews, 324 S.C. 516, 479 S.E.2d 808 (Ct.App.1996). We must review the facts the jury heard and weigh those facts against the erroneous jury charge to determine what effect, if any, it had on the verdict. State v. Jefferies, 316 S.C. 13, 446 S.E.2d 427 (1994). In making a harmless error analysis, our inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered. Id.

The erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered. As in Buckner the jury charge lowered the burden necessary to find Appellant guilty. The erroneous instruction on attempted murder requires reversal.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above argument, the Appellant's conviction and sentence should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.