ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Colleton County
The Honorable Perry M. Buckner, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213520

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

BRONSON SHELLEY,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAR 12 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Colleton County

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court properly instructed the jury on the law of attempted murder, including its definition of malice, when it charged the current and correct law of South Carolina.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Colleton County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for two counts of attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R.pp.276-279.) On November 13, 2012, Appellant proceeded to trial before a jury and the Honorable Perry M. Buckner. David Matthews, Esquire, represented Appellant, and Steven Knight, Esquire, represented the State. The jury found Appellant not guilty on one count of attempt murder but found him guilty on the other count and on the possession of a weapon charge. (R. p.263.) Judge Buckner sentenced him to twenty-five years' imprisonment for the attempted murder charge and five years' imprisonment for the weapon charge, to be served concurrently. (R. p.275.)

On November 19, 2012, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 12, 2012, Deputy Justin Eaches, of the Dorchester County Sheriff's Office, attempted to stop a vehicle for a traffic violation. (R. p.68, line 2-R. p.70, line 15.) While trying to stop the vehicle, he pulled beside it and was able to see both the driver and the passenger. (R. p.70, lines 16-24.) Deputy Joseph Burnette, II, also of the Dorchester County Sheriff's Office and driving a separate patrol car, participated in attempting to stop the vehicle and observed the passenger, Appellant, shooting out of the sunroof. (R. p.107, lines 19-25; R. p.116, line 15-R. p.117, line 15.) After a high-speed chase reaching 100 miles per hour, the vehicle turned over and both occupants exited. (R. p.73, lines 20-25; R. p.77, lines 1-13; R. p.78, lines 16-21.) Deputy Eaches went after Appellant and arrested him. (R. p.79, lines 1-12.) Appellant was charged with two counts of attempted murder and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and proceeded to trial before a jury on November 13, 2012. (R.pp.276-279)

Prior to charging the jury, the trial court asked for jury charge requests from each party. (R. p.207, lines 1-6.) Appellant asked "for a definition of intent to kill, being a conscious purpose, as in the language used in State versus Sutton." (R. p.207, lines 11-13.) In response to Appellant's request, the following exchange took place:

The Court: Well, I actually think the law in Sutton was talking about a different offense; however - - when I say different, it was talking about attempted murder, but not the statutory. I intend to charge the jury the same thing, Mr. Mathews, and that is intended means intending the result which actually occurs, not accident[al]ly or involuntarily. . . . But I will charge the jury that an attempt includes a specific intent to do a criminal act, and I will also charge the jury, along with an act falling short of the act intended. But I will charge them that for this offense, a person, who with the intent to kill attempts to kill another

person with malice aforethought, either express or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder[,] . . . as well as giving the jury the fact that this statutory offense of attempted murder requires that a person must have the intent to kill.

However, the jury has to know that the act falls short of the act, or the attempt does, even though it included a specific intent to do a particular criminal act, along with an act falling short of the act intended. And I think they need to be told that, and I intend to charge that, but I'll go over that with you in my charge conference.

Other than that charge, because I intend to define attempt and define the statute, Mr. Mathews, are there any other requests by the defendant as Requests to Charge?

[Defense counsel]: No, sir.

(R. p.207, line 14-R. p.208, line 21.)

After a charge conference in chambers, the following exchange took place on the record:

The Court: Mr. Mathews takes exception, although I'm charging the exact wording of the new attempted murder statute. Mr. Mathews wants me to add some additional wording, and we discussed it yesterday on the record. I think my charge adequately covers it, and I told him that.

I am going to define general intent. I'm going to define "attempt" since it is a word in the statute.

Mr. Mathews cited to me a 2000 case. That case was decided under - - it was for the offense of attempted murder, but that case was decided prior to the passage of the statutory offense that we have now of attempted murder. And, of course, the Legislature defined attempted murder when they passed that statute in 2010. And for that reason, I was hesitant to use language from a case dealing with an offense, which is not the statutory offense for which the defendant is charged.

Have I accurately stated what occurred in chambers, as far as the State is concerned?

[The State]: Yes, sir.

The Court: Insofar as the defendant is concerned?

Mr. Mathews: Yes, Your Honor.

(R. p.210, lines 4-24.)

After the trial court instructed the jury, Appellant took exception to the trial court's definition of malice. (R. p.256, lines 12-22.) His specific objection was to the language: "with an intent to inflict an injury." (R. p.257, lines 5-25.) He argued "it waters down the defendant's purpose, the level of intent" (R. p.257, lines 24-25.) The trial court explained it defined malice because it is an element of attempted murder. (R. p.258, lines 4-10.) Furthermore, the trial court construed Appellant's exception as "a renewal of [his] request to charge the Sutton language." (R. p.259, lines 10-23.) Based on this assumption, the trial court again denied Appellant's request to charge under that language. (R. p.259, line 24-R. p.260, line 3.) Appellant did not correct this assumption by the trial court and did not ask for a ruling on his specific malice argument regarding the wording.

Ultimately, the jury found Appellant guilty of one count of attempted murder while finding him not guilty of the other. (R. p.263.) It also found him guilty of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p.263.) The trial court sentenced him to twenty-five years' imprisonment for the attempted murder charge and five years' imprisonment for the weapon charge, to be served concurrently. (R. p.275.)

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly instructed the jury on the law of attempted murder, including its definition of malice, when it charged the current and correct law of South Carolina.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in instructing the jury when it defined malice as the intentional doing of a wrongful act, without just cause or excuse and with an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law will infer an evil intent. He argues this was error because attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill. On the contrary, the trial court instructed the jury on the current and correct law of South Carolina, which is all that is required. As a whole, the charges contain the correct definition and adequately cover the law. Thus, this Court should find the trial court properly instructed the jury on the law of attempted murder and should affirm Appellant's conviction and sentence.

“Generally, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005). “A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” Id. “‘Malice aforethought’ is defined as ‘the requisite mental state for common-law murder’ and it utilizes four possible mental states to encompass both specific and general intent to commit the crime. These four possibilities are intent to kill, intent to inflict grievous bodily harm, extremely reckless indifference to the value of human life (abandoned and malignant heart), and intent to commit a felony (felony murder rule).” State v. Kinard, 373 S.C. 500, 503-04, 646 S.E.2d 168, 169 (Ct. App. 2007) (citations omitted).

In the discussion following Appellant's initial request to charge the language of State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283 (2000), the trial judge clearly agreed to charge the jury that an attempt includes a specific intent to do a criminal act along with an act falling short of the act intended. He also agreed to charge the jury that for this offense, a person, who with the intent to kill attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either express or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder. Additionally, he agreed to charge the jury on the fact that the statutory offense of attempted murder requires that a person must have the intent to kill. Furthermore, in the discussion following the charge conference, the trial judge agreed to charge general intent but explained he was hesitant to charge the jury based on a case that dealt with an offense other than the one under which this defendant was charged—statutory attempted murder. He pointed out that Sutton dealt with attempted murder prior to the 2010 statute.

In his jury instructions, the trial judge extensively explained attempt and what is required for the offense of attempted murder. Specifically, he stated:

An attempt includes a specific intent to do a particular criminal act, along with that act falling short of the act intended. The State must show more than mere preparation, an intent. There must be some overt act committed in the effort to commit the crime.

Intent means intending the result which actually occurs, not accident[al]ly or not involuntarily. . . . South Carolina Code Section 16-3-29 states as follows, and it is the attempted murder statute in South Carolina: A person, who with the intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.

(R. p.247, line 1-25.) (emphasis added.) He then went into great detail explaining malice, including:

Malice is hatred, ill-will or hostility towards another person. It is - - malice is the intentional doing of a

wrongful act, without just cause or excuse, and with an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law will infer an evil intent.

(R. p.248, lines 1-5.)

Appellant specifically argues the trial court “did not instruct the jury that ‘attempted murder would require the specific intent to kill and conduct towards that end.’” On the contrary, the trial court charged the jury:

An attempt includes a specific intent to do a particular criminal act, along with that act falling short of the act intended. The State must show more than mere preparation, an intent. There must be some overt act committed in the effort to commit the crime.

Intent means intending the result which actually occurs, not accident[al]ly or not involuntarily. . . .

South Carolina Code Section 16-3-29 states as follows, and it is the attempted murder statute in South Carolina: A person[] who[,] with the intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.

(R. p.247, line 1-25.) (emphasis added.)

The above instructions clearly charged the jury that the crime of attempted murder undoubtedly requires specific intent to kill and, by charging that the State must show more than mere preparation and that there must be some overt act committed in the effort to commit the crime, also made clear to the jury that attempted murder requires “conduct towards that end.” As South Carolina case law makes clear, “[a] jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” Zeigler, 364 S.C. at 106, 610 S.E.2d at 865 (emphasis added). When read as a whole, one can easily see the trial court included both specific intent to kill and conduct toward that end in its charge on attempted murder.

As for Appellant's argument regarding the trial court's malice instruction, at trial Appellant took exception to the trial court's definition of malice, specifically objecting to the language "with an intent to inflict an injury." (R. p.256, lines 12-22; R. p.257, lines 5-25.) He argued "it waters down the defendant's purpose, the level of intent" (R. p.257, lines 24-25.) The trial court explained it defined malice in its instructions to the jury because it is an element of attempted murder. (R. p.258, lines 4-10.) When the trial court construed Appellant's exception as "a renewal of [his] request to charge the Sutton language" and again denied Appellant's request to charge under that language, Appellant did not correct this assumption by the trial court and did not ask for a ruling on his specific malice argument. (R. p.259, lines 10-23; R. p.259, line 24-R. p.260, line 3.) To the extent Appellant argues the trial court's malice charge was incorrect, that argument is waived. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) ("In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court]. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.").

On appeal, Appellant asserts that "an intent to inflict an injury" should not have been included in the definition of malice because it is not part of the traditional definition of malice. In the list of cases Appellant cites that define malice, he included State v. Kinard, 373 S.C. 500, 503-04, 646 S.E.2d 168, 169 (Ct. App. 2007). However, he neglected to point out that in Kinard, this Court cited the *Black's Law Dictionary* definition of malice aforethought: "the requisite mental state for common-law murder' and it utilizes four possible mental states to encompass both specific and general intent to commit the crime. These four possibilities are intent to kill, intent to inflict grievous bodily harm, extremely reckless indifference to the value of human life (abandoned and

malignant heart), and intent to commit a felony (felony murder rule).” *Id.* at 503-04, 646 S.E.2d at 169 (emphasis added). *Black’s Law Dictionary’s* definition of “grievous bodily harm” directs one to “see serious bodily injury.” *Black’s Law Dictionary* 771 (9th ed. 2009). Moreover, *Black’s Law Dictionary* defines “harm” as “injury,” so it is apparent those words are interchangeable under the law. *Id.* 784 (9th ed. 2009). This Court noted “the South Carolina Supreme Court has found the *Black’s Law Dictionary* definition of ‘malice aforethought’ does not vary in a meaningful way from a proper jury instruction.” *Id.* at 504 n.3, 646 S.E.2d at 169 n.3 (citing *State v. Harris*, 340 S.C. 59, 64, 530 S.E.2d 626, 628 (2000)).¹

Finally, Appellant argues he was prejudiced by the erroneous jury instruction because the malice instruction, which included intent to inflict an injury, somehow diluted the specific intent to kill that is required for attempted murder. It is unreasonable to believe the jury would not have understood that specific intent to kill was required in order for it to find Appellant guilty of attempted murder. The trial judge incorporated the statutory definition of attempted murder into his instructions. He clearly stated:

An attempt includes a specific intent to do a particular criminal act, along with that act falling short of the act intended. The State must show more than mere preparation, an intent. There must be some overt act committed in the effort to commit the crime. Intent means intending the result which actually occurs, not accident[al]ly or not involuntarily. . . . South Carolina Code Section 16-3-29 states as follows, and it is the attempted murder statute in South Carolina: A person[] who[,] with the intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.

¹ Indeed, the trial court’s jury instruction came directly from the current version of the Criminal Charges Bench Book, which the judicial department updates each year and distributes to judges.

(R. p.247, line 1-25.) (emphasis added.)

While Appellant asserts there was only a single reference to intent to kill in the jury charge, the above quoted portion demonstrates the trial judge mentioned specific intent, intent, and intent to kill a total of four times. Jury charges must be read as a whole, not dissected into separate parts. See State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” (emphasis added). “Jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error. The substance of the law is what must be instructed to the jury, not any particular verbiage.” State v. Buckner, 341 S.C. 241, 246-47, 534 S.E.2d 15, 18 (2000) (citations omitted).

Appellant cites Buckner for the proposition that when a jury charge contains both the correct and incorrect law, an appellate court must assume the jury followed the incorrect charge. In Buckner, the Court found “the trial court erroneously charged the law on the offense of unlawful use of the telephone.” Id. at 247, 534 S.E.2d at 18. Here, however, there was no incorrect law charged to the jury. The trial court charged the current and correct attempted murder statute and the correct definition of malice aforethought according to Kinard and Harris. Accordingly, the trial court correctly instructed the jury and should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION